SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SED J. WHITE

MAY 9 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

JOSEPH J. RUBANO, et al.

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. 83,307

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

District Court of Appeal 4th District - No. 92-2695

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER JOSEPH J. RUBANO, ET AL.

ALAN E. DeSERIO, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 155394
BRIGHAM, MOORE, GAYLORD,
SCHUSTER & MERLIN
777 South Harbour Island Blvd.
Suite 900
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813)229-8811

ALLAN M. RUBIN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 138915 SHUTTS & BOWEN 1500 Miami Center 201 S. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-9161 Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal involves five separate inverse condemnation proceedings, which were consolidated for trial. (R: 469; 473; 481). Petitioners were owners or tenants of certain properties which were identified as Parcels 1, 2, 3A, 3B, 4 and 5. The properties were also identified during the proceedings by the following common descriptions:

- * Parcel 1 Coastal Ford property.
- * Parcel 2 RPM property.
- * Parcel 3 (3A & 3B) "L" shaped property.
- * Parcel 4 Hillman property.
- * Parcel 5 Staff Marine property.

A separate order styled "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Judgment In Inverse Condemnation" was entered as to each parcel. (R: 836-848; 849-861; 862-874; 875-887; 888-901). (A: 10-23/Parcel 1)

For this Court's reference, a copy of Plaintiff's Exhibit 44, reflecting the location of the parcels, is included on the following page. The parcels are highlighted in yellow.

For purposes of this Initial Brief the following symbols will be utilized: "R" - refers to the Record on Appeal; "A" - refers to the Appendix accompanying the Initial Brief.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

While before the District Court, the DOT conceded that the five final judgments "accurately reflected the basic facts adduced at trial." (Initial Brief of Appellant, p.15). With some variation, the factual findings of the trial court were basically the same as to all five parcels. DOT quoted from the judgment entered as to Parcel 1 in the presentation of it's

UNABLE TO SCAN MAP

Statement of Case and Facts. (Initial Brief, pp. 3 - 15). Given DOT's concession, the Petitioner will utilize the final judgments as the basis for the Statement of Case and Facts.

A. **BEFORE CONDITIONS.**

- 1. LOCATION OF THE PROPERTIES The properties are all located generally between S.W. 26th Terrace and S.W. 23rd Terrace, on the north side of S.R. 84, which runs east and west. All of the properties abutted the northernmost westbound lane of the S.R. 84, allowing direct access to the roadway. Customers traveling westbound could enter the properties by merely making a right turn. Customers leaving the properties did so by making a right turn onto S.R. 84. Customers traveling east on S.R. 84 could reach the property by utilizing a protected u-turn at the intersection of Ravenswood Road and S.R. 84. Customers leaving the property, which desired to return to the eastbound lanes, could do so by turning right onto the westbound lanes and then utilize one of two U-turns located a short distance from the properties. (R: 613-615). (See Plaintiff's Exhibit 44, which accurately reflects the location of the parcels and the U-turns prior to November, 1987.)
- 2. PRE-EXISTING USES OF THE PROPERTIES Parcel 1 (Coastal Ford property) was used as a heavy duty truck dealership, which sold, leased and serviced new and used heavy duty trucks and tractor trailer type vehicles. Parts and supplies for these types of vehicles were also sold at the location. (R: 889).

<u>Parcel 2</u> (RPM property) was used as a Detroit Diesel Engine dealership, which sold, repaired, maintained and serviced new and used heavy duty diesel engines that were used in trucks, various marine applications and for stationary power uses. Parts and supplies for these engines were also sold at the site. (R: 863).

Parcel 3 (3A & 3B) was leased to Minotaur Corporation d/b/a Title Outlet, and was used as a parking and storage lot in connection with the sale of ceramic tile and other floor coverings, to contractors, suppliers, installers and to the general public. (R: 850)

Parcel 4 (the Hillman property) was used as an Onan Generator dealership which sold, repaired, maintained and serviced new and used diesel and gasoline powered generators, which were used in trucks, recreational vehicles, motor and mobile homes. Parts and supplies for these generators were also sold at the site. (R: 876).

Parcel 5 (the Staff Marine property) was used by the tenant (Anything On Wheels) as a location for the sale of used cars and light trucks. Numerous daily "test drives" were made by customers to and from the site. (R: 837).

With the exception of Parcel 5, used by Anything On Wheels, the majority of vehicles entering and leaving Parcels 1, 2, 3 and 4, including delivery vehicles, were large, heavy duty types of vehicles, including tractor trailers. (R:889; 863; 850; 876). With regard to all of the parcels, westbound vehicles could turn directly onto the properties, but eastbound vehicles depended upon the protected and highly visible U-turn located at Ravenswood Road. Vehicles traveling north or south on Interstate 95, which was located approximately one quarter mile to the east, could exit onto S.R. 84 (westbound) and proceed directly to the site. (R:613-615; 889; 863; 850; 876). (See copy of Plaintiff's Ex. 44)

B. GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITY IN THE ADJACENT ROADWAY.

Three events occurred which gave rise to the petitioners' claims that their property rights of access had been substantially impaired.

1. RELOCATION OF LANES TO THE NORTH.

On or about **December 14 1987**, DOT began relocating all existing travel lanes of State Road 84 to the north of their former location in order to construct, as part of State Project No. 86095-3454 (the Project), a new southern bridge over I-95 on State Road 84. In connection therewith, DOT eliminated the Ravenswood U-turn, which provided eastbound access to all of the parcels. It also erected a continuous line of concrete barriers between the east and westbound lanes of newly relocated State Road 84. The existing manner of access for eastbound vehicles was eliminated by the closure of the U-turn and installation of the barriers. To gain access to the parcels, eastbound vehicles on S.R. 84 were now required to cross over I-95 and continue traveling until they reached the U-turn at S.W. 15th Avenue. After making the U-turn, the vehicles could then cross back over I-95 and return to the properties using westbound State Road 84. (R: 890; 864; 851; 877; 837-838). (See Plaintiff's Ex. 45, reproduced on the following page.)

The evidence established that this manner of access was not visible from the vicinity of the properties, and customers or delivery vehicles not familiar with the area east of I-95 would have to pass the properties and travel over I-95 in search of the U-turn at S.W. 15th Ave. In comparison to the access which existed prior to the closure of the Ravenswood U-turn and erection of the concrete barriers, customers and delivery vehicles were now required to travel an additional distance of almost one and one-half miles. (R: 890; 864; 851; 877; 837-839).

The circuitous route described above was considered by all of Petitioners' expert witnesses to be a substantial impairment of Petitioners' preexisting access. The route was described by DOT's expert witnesses as "unreasonable", if this condition were permanent,

UNABLE TO SCAN MAP

(Robert Alexander), and as a "significant impairment in quality of access" (Daniel Murray). (R: 890-891; 864-865: 851-852; 877-878: 838-839).

In all of the orders entered, the trial court noted, as significant to the issue of eastbound access to the properties, the stipulation announced during the trial. There the DOT agreed to restore a visible, protected U-turn to S.R. 84, in accordance with the plans prepared by DOT in November, 1991. (Plaintiffs Exhibit No. 49) The U-turn would be located just west of the intersection with Ravenswood Road. (R: 892; 866; 853; 878-879; 839-840).

2. RELOCATION OF LANES TO THE SOUTH.

In January, 1989, DOT completed construction of the new southern bridge over I-95 on S.R. 84. It then relocated all travel lanes of S.R. 84 to the extreme south of its right-of-way in order to construct a new northern bridge over I-95. When relocating these travel lanes, DOT also created a service road from the 'old' westbound lanes of S.R. 84 by using concrete barriers which separated the service road from the travel lanes of State Road 84. With the exception of the western driveway of Parcel 1, the properties no longer abutted S.R. 84, but instead, abutted the service road. Access to and from S.R. 84 was then available only by utilizing a narrow break in the concrete barrier wall. This opening was virtually hidden from the view of motorists approaching on westbound S.R. 84 due to its location on the downgrade of the new southern bridge over I-95. In late May, 1989, DOT implemented changes to the service road, as depicted on Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 4. In an effort to improve the access, DOT signalized the service road at S.W. 26th Terrace, and removed the barrier wall at the western end of the service road. (R: 892-893: 866-867; 853-

854, 879-880, 840-841).

According to DOT's representative, Mr. Patrick McCann, and Plaintiffs' Composite Exhibit No. 34, these changes occurred because the service road did not "...provide for the safe and expeditious movement of traffic through the project in accordance with the intent of the original contract," nor was it "functionally operational" without modification (See Plaintiffs' Composite Exhibit No. 34).

3. ELIMINATION OF PRE-EXISTING I-95 CONNECTIONS TO S.R. 84.

At the same time that DOT created the service road described above, it also physically severed all S.R. 84 connections to and from I-95. All customers and delivery vehicles desiring to access the properties by the I-95 exits onto westbound State Road 84 were relegated to the use of a portion of I-595, which exited onto S.W. 26th Terrace, south of its intersection with State Road 84. The majority of all customers and delivery vehicles attempting to gain access to the properties were now required to pursue a tedious and circuitous route, consisting of additional distances of between 2.32 and 2.43 miles, when compared to the distances before the I-95 connections to State Road 84 were severed. (See Plaintiffs Exhibit No. 47; A:24) (R: 893-894; 867; 854; 880; 841).

C. <u>FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT.</u>

1. With regard to Parcel 1, while the property never lost <u>all</u> access between S.R. 84 and the general system of transportation, and although, the western driveway of Parcel No. 1 continued to abut the westbound travel lanes of State Road 84, the trial court found that Coastal Ford was forced to close its eastern driveway, which was its main entrance. It did so in order to stop the use of the property as part of the service road. This occurred

when vehicles arriving at the concrete barrier, at the western end of the service road, frequently entered the property through the eastern driveway, drove across the property and then departed onto westbound S.R. 84 through the western driveway. The trial court also found that the DOT's signalization of the service road at S.W. 26th Terrace in late May, 1989, did not cure the problem. In fact, traffic entered Parcel 1 through its western driveway from S.W. 26th Terrace and continued using the property as part of the service road. The trial court concluded that the quality of Coastal Ford's access in terms of safety and visibility, as well as ease and facility of access, was substantially diminished. (R:894).

- 2. With regard to the other parcels, the trial court found that while the properties did not lose all access between S.R. 84 and the general system of transportation, they had suffered a substantial loss of eastbound access. The properties were also taken off a major arterial roadway and placed on a service road. During this time period, the quality of access in terms of safety and visibility, as well as ease and facility of access, was substantially diminished. (R: 867-868; 855; 880-881; 841-842).
- 3. The adverse impacts of the DOT project were not limited to that described above. Throughout the existence of the service road (January 1989 through May 1990), a lack of visible access and inadequate and unsafe turning radii, at both the break in the barrier wall, and later at the western end of the service road when signalized, so destroyed all safe and visible access onto the properties, even from westbound State Road 84, that Petitioners were deprived of the economically viable use of the properties.

The DOT activities described above impacted the properties in the following way:

* Coastal Ford (Parcel 1) lost its dealership, which had been highly successful prior

to the commencement of DOT's project. (R:895-896).

- * R.P.M. Diesel Engine Co. (Parcel 2) was forced to relocate its parts and supply business to another location, resulting in renovation expenses, additional employee expenses and the cost required to virtually double its parts inventory in order to maintain its level of sales. During this time it also suffered a continuing decline in its repair and service business.(R:869).
- * Tile Outlet, the long term tenant of Parcel 3 (3A & 3B), vacated the property and terminated a long standing (14 year) option to lease other improvements (a building) on contiguous property.(R: 856).
- * Parcel 4 lost its long term tenant of fourteen years. A new tenant was secured approximately one year later, after \$20,000 in renovations were made. In less than a year, this new tenant also vacated the property.(R:882).
- * Parcel 5 also lost its tenant (Anything On Wheels) and was unable to secure another tenant after November 1987.(R:843).
- 4. While the trial court recognized that the I-95 connections to S.R. 84 were restored by July, 1990, and that a Texas U-turn was constructed as part of the project, based upon all of the evidence, including the video tape of the Texas U-turn (Defendant's Exhibit No. 41) and the expert testimony on this issue, the trial court found that the Texas U-turn did not restore suitable eastbound access to the properties. It also found that suitable access would only be restored when DOT, as stipulated during trial, constructed a visible and protected U-turn on S.R. 84. This was to be completed by Labor Day, 1992. (R: 896; 869-870; 857; 882-883; 843-844).

- 5. The trial court reached the following conclusions:
- * DOT's activities had substantially diminished access to the abutting roadway and the general system of transportation from December 14, 1987 through the date the DOT completes the modifications to S.R. 84 as shown in Plaintiff's Exhibit 49.
- * DOT's activities had taken access from the properties to the abutting roadway and the general system of transportation.
- * The taking of access was "temporary," commencing on December 14, 1987, and continuing until the DOT completes the modifications (protected u-turn) stipulated to during the trial.

D. OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT.

On appeal the District Court of Appeal stated that the question before it was "... whether this is the 'substantial loss of access' which is compensable under <u>Tessler</u> or merely the 'loss of the most convenient access' or diminished 'flow of traffic' which is not compensable under <u>Tessler</u>." (A: 6) Although it agreed that trial judge provided a "scholarly and well-reasoned analysis of the case law," the District Court, "not without difficulty," concluded that the case law required reversal. (A: 8). Specifically, the District Court found it "... difficult to distinguish <u>Capital Plaza</u> since the median in <u>Capital Plaza</u> and the concrete barriers erected here were similar in that they affected the access of traffic in one direction only." (A: 8).

After acknowledging the property owners' constitutional right to compensation for the taking of their property, and that the "question was close," the District Court certified this cause as one involving a question of great public importance. (A: 9).

POINT AT ISSUE

Prior to November 1987, the five properties involved in this cause had direct access to a well traveled arterial roadway, S.R. 84. Customers, and those making deliveries, most of whom drove large, heavy duty trucks, could safely and easily access the properties from both the east and west bound lanes of S.R. 84. Access to and from the general transportation system by these large truck vehicles could also be safely and easily accomplished. Over a period of nearly five years, however, activities conducted by the DOT destroyed the existing uses of the properties by denying the properties access that was suitable for those existing uses. These activities included, but were not limited to: (1) destroying pre-existing access from the eastbound lanes, except by use of a lengthy, potentially hazardous and circuitous route; (2) walling off the properties by the use of concrete barriers which separated the properties from the westbound lanes of S.R. 84, relegating the properties to the use of a frontage / service road where direct access once existed; and (3) closing ramps to and from a main thoroughfare, which eliminated the ability to reasonably connect to the general transportation system.

DOT's activities did not effect all properties along this portion of S.R. 84 in the same devastating manner with which it impacted the subject parcels. With regard to these particular parcels, the question presented to this Court is "Considering the uses being made of these properties, along with the activities of the DOT, whether individually or combined, did the trial court properly conclude that a temporary 'taking' of access had occurred?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly determined that a temporary taking of Petitioners' access to

the abutting roadway, and to the general system of transportation, occurred between December 1987 and Labor Day 1992. The findings of the trial court were based, in part, upon the occurrence of three events, which, in light of the commercial uses of the properties, resulted in the substantial impairment of Petitioners' access. Prior to the occurrence of these activities, the properties had direct access to S.R. 84, and the ease and facility of access to the properties allowed customers traveling both east and west bound on S.R. 84 safe access to the properties. Given the uses made of the subject properties, most of the vehicles entering and leaving the properties, including delivery vehicles, were large, heavy duty trucks, including tractor trailers.

The activities of the DOT in the adjacent roadway which led to the conclusion that access had been temporarily taken included: the construction of a concrete barrier between the existing east and west bound travel lanes of S.R. 84, which required customers to take a tedious and circuitous route of one and one half miles to reach the properties; the elimination of direct access to S.R. 84 and placement of the properties on a service road by erecting a concrete barriers between the properties and S.R. 84; and physically severing connections to a main thoroughfare located a short distance from the properties, which required the majority of customers to travel a circuitous route of over two miles in order to reach the properties.

The property right of access includes not only an abutter's easement to the adjacent roadway, but also the right to reasonably connect with the general system of roads. Whether governmental activities are determined to result in the taking of these access rights will depend upon the facts of each case. Of particular importance is the suitability of the access

in light of the use being made of the property. If the facts establish that these access rights have been substantially diminished by governmental activity, then a taking of access has occurred. Whether any damages have been incurred as a result of this taking is for the determination of a jury.

The activities of the DOT in this cause effectively destroyed, for a temporary period, the ease and facility of access to the properties which existed prior to the project, resulting in the demise of the business uses being made of those properties. Considering the facts of this case, including the uses being made of the subject properties, the trial court, as fact finder, properly concluded that a compensable taking of access occurred.

The District Court, in the determining that the orders of the trial court required reversal, incorrectly applied certain case precedent. The opinion of the District Court should be quashed and the orders as to all parcels reinstated.

ARGUMENT

The trial court, sitting as finder of fact, properly concluded that the DOT's activities in the roadway substantially diminished the owners' easement of access, leaving the owner with access that was unsuitable for the uses to which the properties were devoted.

While the District Court opinion mentions two of the three DOT "activities," which the trial court cited in support of the finding that access had been substantially diminished, only one of those activities (the placement of concrete barriers between the east and westbound lanes) was considered in determining that reversal was required. (A: 7-8).

There is no discussion of the "legal" implications of DOT's elimination of direct access to S.R. 84 by placing the properties upon a service road. By overlooking this significant aspect of the cause, the District Court erroneously determined that "the case law requires reversal" of the final judgments entered in this cause.

A. PLACEMENT OF THE PROPERTIES ON A SERVICE/ACCESS ROAD.

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