SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JUN 30 1994

Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

v.

JOSEPH J. RUBANO,

CASE NO. 83,307

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thornton J. Williams
General Counsel
GREGORY G. COSTAS
Assistant General Counsel
FLORIDA BAR ID NO: 210285
Department of Transportation
605 Suwannee Street, MS 58
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0458
(904) 488-6212

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners contend that the lower court's decision should be quashed and that the final orders pertaining to each parcel should be reinstated because the lower court overlooked the legal implications of the Department's elimination of direct access to State Road 84 by placing the properties upon a service road; because the elimination of the Ravenswood U-turn by placement of concrete barriers between the eastbound and westbound lanes of State Road 84 produced a physical impairment of access to two directional traffic rather than a modification of traffic flow; and, because a substantial impairment of access resulted from the physical closure of the I-95 connections to State Road 84.

The Department first argues that Petitioners abandoned any claim that the operating characteristics of State Road 84 subsequent to the completion of construction resulted in a compensable temporary taking of access by virtue of their failure to advance any argument on the issue.

The Department next argues that Petitioners did not suffer a compensable temporary taking of access because all of the impacts to accessibility they complain of occurred during construction of the project.

Regarding Petitioners' claim concerning the temporary placement of the properties on a service road, in addition to the fact that the use of the service road occurred during construction, the Department argues that a compensable taking did not result because there was no impact to Petitioners' pre-existing ability to

ingress and egress their properties to and from the abutting public road. Petitioners had no vested right to direct access to the westbound main travel lanes of State Road 84.

While the elimination of the Ravenswood U-turn by the placement of concrete barriers between the eastbound and westbound lanes of State Road 84 is not compensable because it occurred during construction, the Department also argues that compensability is barred because Petitioners' claim is grounded upon a modification of traffic flow and attendant economic ramifications.

Finally, the Department argues that the temporary closure of the I-95 connections to State Road 84 did not result in a compensable taking because Petitioners did not have a vested right to convenient access to and from I-95.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE**

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE TRIAL JUDGE REVERSIBLY ERRED IN FINDING A COMPENSABLE TEMPORARY TAKING OF ACCESS TO PETITIONERS' PROPERTIES WHERE THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT THE IMPACTS TO ACCESSIBILITY COMPLAINED OF WERE ATTRIBUTABLE DEPARTMENT'S ROAD CONSTRUCTION THE ACTIVITIES OCCURRING ON THE ABUTTING STATE ROAD AND A MODIFICATION OF TRAFFIC FLOW ON THE ABUTTING STATE ROAD, AND WHERE THE PROPERTIES' PRE-EXISTING ACCESS TO AND FROM THE ABUTTING STATE ROAD WAS NOT AFFECTED BYDEPARTMENT'S ACTIVITIES.

[Restated by Respondent]

Article X, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution bars the taking of private property except for public use, and then only after payment of full compensation. Schick v. Florida Department of Agriculture, 504 So. 2d 1318, 1319 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Ordinarily, a public body seeking to take private land for the public good will exercise its power to condemn through formal proceedings. Pinellas County v. Brown, 420 So. 2d 308, 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). However, where a government agency, by its conduct or activities, has taken private property without a formal exercise of the power of eminent domain, a cause of action for inverse condemnation will lie. Schick v. Florida Department of Agriculture, supra.

Proof of taking by the governmental body is an essential element in an action for inverse condemnation. <u>Pinellas County v. Brown</u>, 450 So. 2d 240, 241 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>State</u>, <u>Department of</u>

Health, Etc. v. Scott, 418 So. 2d 1032, 1034 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). This requisite taking usually consists of an actual physical invasion and an appropriation. Pinellas County v. Brown, supra at 420 So. 2d 310; City of Clearwater v. Earle, 418 So. 2d 344, 345 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Additionally, Florida courts have recognized that overly restrictive regulations and actions, such as permit denials, can result in a compensable taking. Pinellas County v. Brown, supra at 420 So. 2d 310. But, to constitute a taking there must be a deprivation of substantially all economically beneficial or productive use of the property. Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corporation, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S169, S171 (Fla. April 7, 1994).

A compensable taking can also occur when governmental action causes a substantial loss of access to one's property even though there is no physical appropriation of the property itself. Palm Beach County v. Tessler, 538 So. 2d 846, 849 (Fla. 1989). But, the fact that a portion or even all of one's access to an abutting road is destroyed does not constitute a taking unless, when considered in light of the remaining access to the property, it can be said that the owner's right of access was substantially diminished. Id. The loss of the most convenient access is not compensable where other suitable access continues to exist. Id. However, a taking has not occurred when governmental action causes the flow of traffic on an abutting road to be diminished. Department of Transportation v. Gefen, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S275, S276 (Fla. May 26, 1994); Palm Beach County v. Tessler, supra; Division of

Administration v. Capital Plaza, Inc., 397 So. 2d 682, 683 (Fla. 1981). State Department of Transportation v. Stubbs, 285 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973).

Here, the trial judge concluded that Appellees had suffered a compensable temporary taking of access to their properties commencing on December 14, 1987 and concluding upon whatever date the Department completed stipulated modifications to the operating characteristics of State Road 84 -- approximately on or before Labor Day 1992. (R 898, 871, 858, 884, 845) The record reflects that the Department's construction activities were concluded at a point between May and July 1990. (R 613, 896) Thus, for the period running from the completion of construction until Labor Day 1992, the trial judge's finding of a compensable taking necessarily had subsequent operating predicated solely upon the to characteristics of State Road 84 -- specifically the Texas U-turn and the elimination of a U-turn near the properties.

Below, the Department argued that the trial judge reversibly erred in determining that a compensable temporary taking occurred because his conclusion was grounded upon impacts to accessibility attributable to the Department's road construction activities on abutting State Road 84 for the period running from December 14, 1987 to May - July 1990, and a modification of traffic flow on State Road 84 thereafter. The Department further argued that there was no basis to find a compensable temporary take had occurred for the entire term because the properties' pre-existing access to and from State Road 84 was never affected by the Department's

construction activities or the subsequent operating characteristics of State Road 84.

The lower court reversed holding:

The final judgment contains detailed findings of fact and a scholarly and wellreasoned analysis of the case law leading up to the conclusion that there was a taking, and it is not without difficulty that we have concluded that the case law requires reversal. Tessler does not persuade us, however, that there was a taking because in <u>Tessler</u> the loss of access to the abutting road was both total and permanent, while in the present case it was neither. While we realize that a loss of access does not have to be permanent in order to be compensable, we believe the duration of the loss is still one fact to be considered. We also find it difficult to distinguish Capital Plaza since the median in Capital Plaza and the concrete barriers erected here were similar in that they affected the access traffic in one direction only. therefore conclude that there was no taking of access.

State of Florida Department of Transportation v. Rubano, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D240, D242 (Fla. 4th DCA February 2, 1994).

Petitioners argue that the lower court's decision should be quashed and that the final orders pertaining to each parcel should be reinstated. As grounds for relief, the Petitioners claim that the lower court overlooked "the 'legal' implications of DOT's elimination of direct access to S.R. 84 by placing the properties upon a service road" (PB 13-17); that the elimination of the Ravenswood U-turn by placement of concrete barriers between the eastbound and westbound lanes of State Road 84 produced a physical impairment of access to "two directional traffic" rather than a modification of traffic flow (PB 18-25); and that a substantial

impairment of access resulted from the physical closure of the I-95 connections to State Road 84. (PB 25-27)

Petitioners have not advanced any argument that a compensable taking of access, attributable to the operating characteristics of the completed project, occurred during the period running from the completion of construction until approximately Labor Day, 1992. Accordingly, Petitioners have abandoned that claim. See Polyglycoat Corp. v. Hirsch Distributors, Inc., 442 So. 2d 958, 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (Upon Motion for Rehearing), pet. for review dis., 451 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 1984) (When points, positions, facts and supporting authorities are omitted from the brief, a court is entitled to believe that such are waived, abandoned, or deemed by counsel to be unworthy).

A. Impairment Of Accessibility Attributable To Road Construction On State Road 84 Is Not Compensable.

In light of Petitioners' abandonment of the facet of their claim concerning the operating characteristics of the completed project, their basis for alleging a compensable temporary taking of access is grounded solely upon impacts to accessibility occurring during construction. It is well settled that losses resulting from construction activities, including impaired accessibility, are not compensable. Anhoco Corporation v. Dade County, 144 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 1962); Division of Administration, State of Florida v. Frenchman, 476 So. 2d 224 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Howard Johnson Co. v. Division of Administration, State, 450 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 4th DCA

1984); <u>Division of Administration</u>, <u>Department of Transportation v</u>.

<u>Hillsboro Association</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 286 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

Relying upon the foregoing authority, the Department argued below that any impairment of accessibility attributable to road construction on State Road 84 was not compensable. The lower court disagreed holding:

The DOT first argues that the property owners are not entitled to compensation for loss of access during construction. The DOT relies on language in <u>Anhoco Corporation v. Dade County</u>, 144 So. 2d 793, 799 (Fla. 1962), which says that property owners should not be compensated for loss of access:

[o] ccasioned merely by the customary limitations on the flow of traffic over a highway being constructed under so-called "traffic conditions." Every business abutting an established highway which is being reconstructed suffers the same type of loss. To this extent any damage suffered is damnum absque injuria.

In Anhoco the owners of two outdoor movie theaters were deprived of all access to abutting SR 826 during a period of time while Florida Turnpike Authority was doing construction, after which access to SR 826 was Notwithstanding the above language restored. relied on by the DOT, our supreme court held that there was such a destruction in access in Anhoco as to entitle the property owners to compensation. Anhoco does not, therefore, stand for the proposition that loss of access result of construction compensable. What Anhoco does stand for, as the above quoted language reflects, is that in order to be compensable the loss of access has to be different than that suffered by all of the other abutting businesses. Since the trial court found that the property owners in this case were affected differently from all other abutting property owners, Anhoco does not preclude compensability.

State of Florida Department of Transportation v. Rubano, supra at D241.

Both the trial court and the lower court missed the point on this issue. The impacts to accessibility Petitioners complained of were not any different than those suffered by any business whose property abuts a road that is undergoing extensive improvements.

Anhoco stands for the proposition that, as a matter of law, losses occasioned by limitations on the flow of traffic over a highway being constructed under "traffic conditions," like the losses at issue here, are the same type of losses suffered by every business abutting an established highway which is being reconstructed and are not compensable.

Review of Petitioners' experts' testimony and the trial judge's findings of fact reveals that the "impaired access" complained of during the construction period was the result of the Department's construction activities and particularly its efforts to maintain traffic on State Road 84 while the project was being built. Three of Petitioners' witnesses attributed the negative impacts upon the properties to the road construction project (R 142, 144, 146, 155, 159-160, 189-190, 197-203), and one witness testified that a tenant quit the premises as a result of anticipation of problems construction of the project might entail. (R 175)

Although the Department prevailed below and did not invoke this Court's jurisdiction to address this question, review thereof is not barred. Once a case is properly before the Court, it has the prerogative to consider any error in the record. See Lawrence v. Florida East Coast Railway Company, 346 So. 2d 1012, 1014 n. 2 (Fla. 1977).

Moreover, the testimony adduced below also established that the losses complained of are those normally associated with a major construction project. Daniel Murray, the Department's traffic engineering expert witness, gave testimony indicating that under construction conditions, access to the parcels was reasonable for all phases of construction. (R 261, 266, 269, 288) For example, concerning phase B of the project, Murray testified that:

From an access standpoint, there were the normal construction constraints. There weren't ideal turning patterns. weren't ideal definitions of access. There were the normal interferences. So when you quality of access, there look at were definitely certain things that did exist. It's quite -- Honestly, it's standard. occur during construction, construction is so dynamic and difficult to maintain traffic to a permanency level.

This is a temporary condition. And recognizing it from those perspectives, in my opinion there was a reasonable standard of care in implementing a traffic maintenance plan. And once you do implement a traffic maintenance plan, of course, it's going to need to be fine tuned, because construction is so dynamic.

### (R 263-264)

On cross examination, Petitioners elicited testimony from Murray to the effect that construction projects are temporary conditions (R 290); that during any construction project there is a certain amount of impairment of the quality of access on a temporary basis (R 295); and that the creation of frontage roads is not an unusual circumstance for a major project -- it happens all the time. (R 296) Similarly, in their cross examination of the Department's appraiser, John Hagan, Petitioners secured testimony

indicating that the changes affecting the parcels would not have occurred but for the construction. (R 355)

Regarding Petitioners' suggestion that Parcel 1's problem with people using the driveways as part of the frontage road system was not normally encountered in general construction problems, Murray responded:

A No. I think you have that all the time in construction, where you have people turning around in driveways and doing -- And I'm not comparing this to a minor construction project. You have to put this in the ball park of a major construction project. And major construction projects have major disruptions to accomplish that project. And people will do various maneuvers, and they will go in driveways they normally wouldn't go into. It's a fact of life that it occurs.

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